2010

Keybank National Association v. Systems West Computer Resources, Inc., and Nancy H. Halverson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a summary judgment of the Third District Court that dismissed the entire action. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES & STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Standard of Review: All of the issues presented here are legal questions following the granting of a summary judgment, which this Court reviews for correctness without deference, applying the same standard that the District Court should have applied: Whether "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c); *Morra v. Grand County*, 2010 UT 21, 230 P. 3d 1022, 1026 (Utah 2010). This Court views "the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Bichler v. DEI Systems, Inc.*, 2009 UT 63, ¶ 10, 220 P.3d 1203, 1206 (Utah 2009).

Statement of Issues:

1. Whether the district court erred in granting a summary judgment dismissing the entire action where plaintiff did not move with respect to defendants' counterclaims or defenses.
2. Whether the written contract documents were ambiguous, and, if so, whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment without considering parol

evidence on the material issue of whether and under what conditions the entire loan balance was required to be paid.

3. Whether the district court erred in applying the parol evidence rule to bar defendants' counterclaims for negligent misrepresentation and breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

4. Whether the district court erred in determining that the bank did not breach the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case about a bank providing a million dollar line of credit to a small company that both the bank and the company knew could not be paid off if the loan were called and line of credit were required to be paid off immediately. Defendants contend that the written agreements between the parties clearly prevented the bank from calling the loan in the absence of a subsequent mutual written agreement requiring immediate, full payoff, and that such an agreement was never made. If there is any ambiguity about the requirement for a written agreement in order to terminate and call the entire loan, parol evidence should have been considered, and the district court erred by not considering parol evidence. The undisputed parol evidence showed that plaintiff KeyBank and defendant Systems West agreed that, so long as the monthly payments due under the loan were paid when and as due, the principal balance of the loan could not be called and immediate repayment of the principal could not be required.

The loan was documented in the various documents discussed below. The basic structure was that there was a series of some 18 promissory notes, each of which terminated after a few months. These notes were subject to and integral with the basic, underlying Business Loan Agreement creating the line of credit, however, which prevented calling the loan unless and until either of two conditions occurred -- (1) either Systems West paid off the entire balance of the loan or (2) the parties mutually agreed in writing to terminate the loan. Neither of these two written conditions ever occurred.

Nor did Systems West ever miss a monthly payment before the bank called the loan and demanded immediate payment of the entire balance.

In violation of the bank's promise to continue to provide the line of credit, in 2008 the bank, facing regulatory and marketing pressures, called the loan (i.e., demanded immediate repayment of the entire balance of the loan). Foreseeably, Systems West was not able to repay the entire million dollar principal balance of the loan, and the bank's actions destroyed the company.

Nevertheless, the bank sued Systems West and Systems West's CEO and owner Nancy Halverson as guarantor. The defendants defended and counterclaimed, including claims and defenses of breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentation, and promissory and equitable estoppel.

The bank moved for summary judgment on its contract claims, but did not move for summary judgment on any of defendants' counterclaims or defenses. To defendants'

surprise, the district court granted summary judgment even on counterclaims and defenses that were not included in the bank's summary judgment motion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2001, KeyBank salesmen approached Systems West and solicited the company to enter into a \$1 million "line of credit." Halverson Decl.¶ 3. ROA 1271. Systems West told the bank at that time, and many times thereafter, that if Systems West were going to enter into the loan, the company needed a long term line of credit, not a short-term loan that had to be repaid fully upon request or even every quarter or six months. Halverson Decl.¶ 4. ROA 1271. The pivotal Business Loan Agreement clearly provided that the bank could not demand immediate repayment of the entire balance unless the parties mutually agreed in writing that the entire balance must be paid off immediately.

Systems West told the bank, and provided financial statements that showed, that the company's cash flow would not support borrowing up to a \$1 million if the entire balance had to be repaid upon demand or even several times each year, and that Systems West would not enter into an agreement that required the immediate repayment of up to \$1 million. Halverson Decl.¶ 4. ROA 1271. Bank agents represented that the promissory notes needed to have short terms (which would mean that the entire balance would become due at the end of six or other definite number of months unless the term of the loan was extended), but that the loan was in fact a long term loan that the company could treat as a reliable long-term line of credit financing. Halverson Decl.¶ 4. ROA

1271. The bank promised that it would renew the loan continually so long as Systems West remained current on the periodic minimum payments as those payments became due. Halverson Decl. 4. ROA 1271.

The bank now claims that the term of the loan expired July 15, 2008 by the terms of the last modification agreement in June 2008 even though the parties did not mutually agree in writing that the entire balance must be paid off and even though Systems West had never missed a monthly payment.

The bank sued Systems West and Halverson alleged breach of contract and breach of the guaranty. The bank moved for summary judgment on issues that it hoped could be decided from within the four corners of what the bank called the parties' "straightforward" written agreements. The summary judgment motion ignored all of defendants' counterclaims and defenses, including claims and defenses that the bank had breached its contract with defendants, that the bank had breached the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, that the bank had committed the tort of negligent misrepresentation, and that the bank was estopped to assert breach under the circumstances.

The written agreements between Systems West and the bank included the following letter setting out the basic structure of the loan, the overarching Business Loan Agreement, the initial promissory note, and some 18 renewal or extension agreements

that had a bearing on the pivotal issue in the case -- namely, when and under what conditions the entire loan balance must be repaid:

1. Letter dated January 9, 2001 from KeyBank (Walker) to Systems West (Halverson). ROA 1278. This document states that the maturity date was July 31, 2001, but that the maturity date would be "annually from that point forward."

2. Promissory Note dated January 10, 2001. ROA 119. This note provides that the maturity date would be July 31, 2001 and that "Borrower will pay this loan in one payment of all outstanding principal plus all accrued interest on July 31, 2001."

3. Business Loan Agreement dated January 10, 2001. ROA 122. This agreement provides: "Borrower understands and agrees that: (A) in granting, renewing, or extending any Loan, Lender is relying upon Borrower's representations, warranties, and agreements as set forth in this Agreement, and (B) all such Loans shall be and remain subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement." (Page 1, 1st paragraph.) The Business Loan Agreement further provides: "**TERM.** This Agreement shall be effective as of January 10, 2001, and shall continue in full force and effect until such time as all of Borrower's Loans in favor of Lender have been paid in full, including principal, interest, costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, and other fees and charges, or until such time as the parties may agree in writing to terminate this Agreement." (Page 1, 2d paragraph.) (This Business Loan Agreement also obliged KeyBank to make further advances under certain

conditions, but advances were not an issue in this action. The primary issue was when and under what conditions advances previously made must be paid off.)

4. Eighteen "Modification and/or Change in Terms Agreements" dated between July 31, 2001 and June 27, 2008. ROA 138-161. These agreements extended the maturity dates of the promissory notes. Some of these agreements expressly stated that they were subject to "all other provisions" of the Loan Documents, including the Business Loan Agreement discussed above, which "shall remain in full force and effect." E.g., Modification and/or Extension Agreement dated July 31, 2001. ROA 138.

Before, during and after the time the Loan Documents were signed, Systems West informed the bank that the cash flow of Systems West would not support a million dollar line of credit that needed to be paid in full with short notice every few months. Halverson Decl. ¶ 4. ROA 1271. Although the company was expanding and needed cash, Systems West explained to the bank salesmen in this initial meeting, and in several other meetings during the time that the bank was lending funds to Systems West, that the loan would not work, and that the principals would not guaranty the loan, if the bank could refuse to extend the loan and could require the immediate payment of the entire loan balance even if Systems West were timely and fully making the required periodic interest payments. Bank representatives repeatedly promised that KeyBank would not call the loan, or refuse to extend the loan, or require immediate repayment of the entire principal amount of the loan, so long as Systems West made the required periodic

payments. Systems West relied upon these promises in entering into the loan agreements and in continuing to borrow from the bank, and would not have entered into the agreements or continued with the line of credit without these promises. Halverson Decl. ¶ 4, ROA 1272.

The primary document creating and defining the duties and rights of the parties reassured Systems West that the bank could not demand immediate full repayment of the entire loan without Systems West's consent. The Business Loan Agreement provided: "**TERM.** This Agreement shall be effective as of January 10, 2001, and shall continue in full force and effect until such time as all of Borrower's Loans in favor of Lender have been paid in full, including principal, interest, costs, expenses, attorneys' fees, and other fees and charges, or until such time as the parties may agree in writing to terminate this Agreement."

The Loan Documents were all drafted and prepared by KeyBank. (See Halverson Decl. ¶ 8. ROA 1272.

Halverson signed the Guaranty in reliance upon KeyBank's repeated representations that the line of credit would be continually renewed and extended, until the loan was paid in full, as long as Systems West made its periodic payments under the Note when and as due, and upon the provision of the Business Loan Agreement that prevented termination of the loan until Systems West had paid the loan off or agreed in writing that the loan could be terminated. Halverson Decl. ¶ 11. ROA 1272. Over the

course of Systems West's seven year relationship with KeyBank, KeyBank in fact repeatedly renewed and extended the loan. Halverson Decl. ¶ 13 ROA 1272.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING COUNTERCLAIMS AND DEFENSES THAT WERE NOT INCLUDED IN THE BANK'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Perhaps because the bank thought that defendants' counterclaims and defenses raised issues that clearly could not be dealt with on summary judgment, given the genuine factual issues that discovery in the case had raised, KeyBank's motion ignored all of defendants' counterclaims and defenses. The defendants assumed that the Court would resolve the issues that the bank raised in its summary judgment motion, and that the resolution of those matters would have whatever impact the court's ruling might have upon the trial of the remaining issues not addressed by summary judgment in accordance with Utah R. Civ. P. 56(d). To defendants' surprise, the district court dismissed the entire action, including all counterclaims and defenses, without considering or analyzing any of the defenses. The only counterclaim that the court addressed was the counterclaim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

But the ignored counterclaims and defenses were material and would have prevented liability on the bank's claims. For example, defendants had counterclaimed that the bank had committed the tort of negligent representation and had asserted defenses, including that the bank's claims were barred by promissory and equitable

estoppel. In response, defendants pointed out that the bank's summary judgment motion did not address these claims or defenses. Even though KeyBank had not addressed any counterclaims in its motion, the Court, in the Amended Brief Statement of Ground for Summary Judgment ¶ 7 (ROA 1531) drafted by KeyBank's counsel dismissed all counterclaims with this sweeping statement: "Defendants' counterclaims are barred because they seek to impose duties and obligations that are inconsistent with the express terms of the Loan Documents." The district court did not even mention in its ruling, let alone consider or adjudicate, any of defendants' defenses.

Rule 56(a) provides that a "party seeking to recover upon a claim ... may ... move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof." Rule 56 allows a party to move for summary judgment on *less* than all claims, and Rule 56(d) authorizes the district court to adjudicate *less* than all the claims addressed by the motion. But nothing in Rule 56 allows the district court to adjudicate *more* than the claims and defenses that are within the scope of movant's motion.

Summary judgment is "a drastic remedy, requiring strict compliance with the rule authorizing it. *Timm v. Dewsnap*, 211 851 P.2d 1178, 1181 (Utah 1993). The moving party determines the scope of a summary judgment motion, and may move on some claims and defenses while ignoring others. *Id.* Only those claims, issues and defenses actually or implicitly raised by the motion are deemed resolved by the motion. *Id.* Here, defendants raised the counterclaim of breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair

dealing, and agree that this claim may be deemed included in the summary judgment motion (though, as discussed below, defendants believe that the district court erred in dismissing this counterclaim). No other claims, however, were expressly or implicitly raised by the summary judgment motion, and the district court's categorical ruling dismissing counterclaims and defenses not raised should be reversed. *Id.* (holding that claims actually or implicitly resolved were properly included in a summary judgment, but that claims and issues not actually or implicitly resolved were not properly adjudicated).

II. BECAUSE THE WRITTEN AGREEMENTS EITHER SUPPORTED SYSTEMS WEST'S POSITION OR WERE AMBIGUOUS, THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE BANK.

The district court found that the written agreements between the parties were fully integrated, unambiguous and supportive of the bank's position. The defendants agree that the written agreements were integrated in the sense that they prevented parol evidence unless they were ambiguous, but not in the sense that the integration clauses in any one of the three agreements prevented consideration of the other two agreements.

Each of the three written contracts or series of contracts -- the January 10, 2001 Business Loan Agreement (ROA 122), the January 10, 2001 Promissory Note (ROA 119), and the series of Modification and/or Extension Agreements (ROA 138-165) contained integration clauses. The integration clauses make inadmissible parol evidence unless the agreements are ambiguous. *E.g., City of Grantsville v. Redevelopment Agency*

of *Toole City*, 2010 UT 38 (Utah 2010). That is, even if integrated, parol evidence may be considered to determine the intent of the parties and resolve the ambiguity. *Id.*

Defendants believe that, taken together, the written agreements unambiguously prohibited the bank from terminating the loan and demanding immediate repayment of the entire balance. The Business Loan Agreement, which unambiguously remained the pivotal contract document throughout the loan relationship, prevented terminating the loan unless Systems West had paid off the entire loan or unless the parties entered into a new written agreement mutually agreeing to end the loan. ROA 122.

At worst, the agreements were ambiguous on the question of ending the loan and requiring payoff. The bank argued that the fact that the initial promissory note and the modification and/or extension agreements had definite terms somehow trumped the Business Loan Agreement prohibition against terminating the loan without mutual written consent. Such a reading would render meaningless the prohibition of the Business Loan Agreement against terminating the loan without mutual, written consent. At very worst, the district court should have found the contract to be ambiguous on this dispositive issue of terminating the loan, and should have considered parol evidence. *City of Grantsville v. Redevelopment Agency of Toole City*, 2010 UT 38 (Utah 2010).

The only parol evidence on this question was the declaration of Systems West's CEO that the agreement was that the loan could not be terminated and called so long as Systems West remained current on the monthly payments. Halverson Decl. ROA 1271.

The district court should therefore have credited the only parol evidence presented, and dismissed the bank's claims, or found that a genuine issue of material fact existed, requiring trial. The district court's error was material and should be reversed.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE BARS EVIDENCE HERE AND THAT THE PAROL EVIDENCE RULE JUSTIFIES THE DISMISSAL OF ALL OF DEFENDANTS' COUNTERCLAIMS AND DEFENSES.

The only nod that KeyBank gave in its summary judgment motion to defendants' counterclaims (other than the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which defendants raised) and defenses was the argument that the parol evidence rule bars all such counterclaims and defenses.

As discussed above, the district court should have found the written agreements to be unambiguously in defendants' favor, or should have found the contracts to be ambiguous and considered parol evidence.

KeyBank argued that *Tangren Family Trust v. Tangren*, 2008 UT 20, 182 P.3d 326 (Utah 2008) holds that parol evidence is not admissible to vary or contradict the terms of an integrated agreement. This misreads *Tangren*. Integration does not destroy the rule that, even if integrated, an ambiguous contract allows parol evidence. *City of Grantsville v. Redevelopment Agency of Toole City*, 2010 UT 38 (Utah 2010).

In addition, it was error to apply the parol evidence rule to prevent the claims of breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and the tort claim of negligent misrepresentation.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COUNTERCLAIM FOR BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

The district court should not have dismissed defendants' counterclaim for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.

In Utah, "parallel obligations to perform the contract in good faith... inhere in every contractual relationship." *Billings v. Union Bankers Ins. Co.*, 918 P.2d 461, 465 (Utah 1996). The general rule that contracting parties must act in good faith and deal fairly also applies to agreements between borrowers and lenders. *In re Fordham*, 130 B.R. 632, 643 (Bky. D. Mass. 1991) (stating that "the holder of a note or security interest must act in good faith in the enforcement of his rights"). Moreover, Utah law states that banks not only have a duty to act in good faith, but that they have a duty to act with "honesty in fact in the conduct or transaction concerned." Utah Code Ann. § 70A-4-103(1) and § 70A-3-103(d). Since Keybank failed to act in good faith, or "honesty in fact," in enforcing the agreements, summary judgment was improper.

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