2010

# Keybank National Association v. Systems West Computer Resources, Inc., and Nancy H. Halverson : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

This case presents the most basic action at law: a default on a guaranteed note. There is nothing novel about the facts, and the legal issues are settled issues of law. The Borrowers have sought to confuse the issues—as borrowers in this position sometimes do—but they have failed to muster any sufficient legal basis to overcome the District Court’s properly reasoned ruling.

The Borrowers' opening brief blatantly omits discussion of any of their defaults under the loan documents: their failure to pay, their failure to timely supply financial statements, the precipitous drop in their accounts receivable, the impermissible reduction in their borrowing base, their substantial financial losses incurred in 2007, and their failure to disclose a judgment awarding a 49% ownership interest in Systems West to a third party. These relevant, omitted facts confirm the propriety of the District Court's grant of summary judgment on the loan default.

The Borrowers instead attempt to premise their case, both defensively and offensively, on inadmissible testimony from Halverson. Ignoring the written covenants in the unambiguous written loan documents, which she never read, Halverson continues to claim that the loan should never have come due so long as Systems West made its minimum interest-only monthly payments, regardless of any other loan covenant violations, and regardless of the due date of the Note agreed to by the parties. This tepid attempt failed in the District Court and it fails when repeated here.

The District Court properly concluded that the application of the parol evidence rule, based upon fully integrated loan documents, precluded Halverson's irrelevant beliefs from creating an issue of fact and accordingly entered judgment. The District Court's decision was a correct application of law to undisputed material facts and should be affirmed in its entirety.

Given the straightforward nature of these issues, KeyBank asserts that oral argument would not materially assist the Court in correctly deciding this appeal. The Borrowers themselves have not requested oral argument.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT'S GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE FULLY INTEGRATED, UNAMBIGUOUS WRITTEN LOAN DOCUMENTS.**

The District Court's legal conclusions were plainly grounded in well-established Utah law. The Borrowers did not offer any admissible evidence below either to controvert KeyBank's statement of undisputed material facts or to support their affirmative defenses and counterclaims. The Borrowers' "unsupported legal allegations" were not enough "to create a material issue of fact precluding summary judgment." Alta v. Ben Hame Corp., 836 P.2d 797, n.7 (Utah App. 1992). The loan documents were fully integrated and unambiguous, calling for construction as a matter of law without resort to extrinsic evidence. See Tangren Family Trust v. Tangren, 2008 UT 20, ¶ 16, 182 P.3d 326, 331; Smith v. Osguthorpe, 2002 UT App 361, ¶ 18, 58 P.3d 854; Webb v. R.O.A. Gen., Inc., 804 P.2d 547, 551 (Utah App. 1991). The District Court therefore properly concluded that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that KeyBank was entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

#### **A. The District Court properly concluded that Systems West defaulted under the Note.**

There was no genuine dispute that Systems West materially breached its contractual obligations to KeyBank by defaulting. The only defense raised by Systems West was that KeyBank failed to renew and extend the term of the Note indefinitely, pursuant to unspecified alleged oral agreements and representations between Systems

West and unidentified KeyBank employees, evidence of which was barred by the express terms of the loan and the parol evidence rule.

The Borrowers argue that the District Court improperly applied the parol evidence rule because the Business Loan Agreement prohibited termination of the entire loan (not just this agreement) without mutual, written consent, and that the loan documents were otherwise ambiguous. In support of these arguments, the Borrowers cite a single provision of the Business Loan Agreement regarding the termination of this agreement. (Appellants' Br., p. 12.) However, the Borrowers' arguments are not supported, legally or factually, by the record.

The Borrowers misread and misinterpret the terms of the Business Loan Agreement, especially when read in light of the binding and fully-integrated loan documents setting forth the maturity date of the loan, from the original maturity date of July 31, 2001, through and including the final maturity date of July 15, 2008, after which no further loan modifications and/or extensions were granted. (R. 937, 953–80.) The provision cited by the Borrowers states that “[t]his Agreement shall be effective as of January 10, 2001, and shall continue in full force and effect until such time as all of Borrower’s Loans in favor of Lender have been paid in full, including principal, interest, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and other fees and charges, or until such time as the parties may agree in writing to terminate *this Agreement*.” (R. 937 (emphasis added).)

The Business Loan Agreement does not in any way state that the term of the loan shall continue into perpetuity, that no default shall be deemed to occur, that the maturity date of the loan shall be renewed continually and forever, or that the loan may not be

called due, unless and until the parties agree otherwise, in writing. Such a result would not only be absurd but inconsistent with the numerous clear and unambiguous contractual provisions to the contrary. The Business Loan Agreement simply ensures the validity and enforceability, i.e., the “force and effect” of the *agreement*, subject only to modifications and/or amendments entered into by and between the contracting parties, in writing. A plain reading of the Business Loan Agreement in its entirety, together with all other pertinent loan documents, makes this clear. Contrary to the Borrowers’ assertions, the District Court correctly determined that the loan documents were “valid, integrated, and unambiguous,” and ruled accordingly. (R. 1445–46.)

“[I]f a contract is integrated, parol evidence is admissible only to clarify ambiguous terms; it is ‘not admissible to vary or contradict the clear and unambiguous terms of the contract.’” Tangren Family Trust, 2008 UT 20, ¶ 11, 182 P.3d 326, 330.

“[A]n integrated agreement is ‘a writing or writings constituting a final expression of one or more terms of an agreement.’” Daines v. Vincent, 2008 UT 51, ¶ 22, 190 P.3d 1269, 1275.

Each and every loan agreement signed by the Borrowers in favor of KeyBank included a clear and unambiguous integration clause, providing the following or substantively similar integration language, that “BY SIGNING THIS DOCUMENT, EACH PARTY REPRESENTS AND AGREES THAT (A) THE WRITTEN LOAN AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES, (B) THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES, AND (C) THE WRITTEN LOAN AGREEMENT MAY NOT BE

CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF ANY PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR  
SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OR UNDERSTANDINGS OF THE  
PARTIES.” (R. 942, 944, 949, 956, 959, 961, 963–71, 975, 977–80, 985, 990.) To argue  
as the Borrowers do that the loan documents did not constitute “the complete agreement  
of the parties” is “to argue in direct contradiction to the clear integration claus[es].”  
Tangren Family Trust, 2008 UT 20, ¶ 16, 182 P.3d 326. The District Court was therefore  
correct not to “allow extrinsic evidence of a separate agreement to be considered on the  
question of integration in the face of a clear integration clause.” Id.

The effect of integration is to exclude evidence outside the written contract in  
construing the contracting parties’ agreement:

[The Parol Evidence Rule] operates . . . to exclude evidence  
of contemporaneous conversations, representations, or  
statements offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the  
terms of an *integrated* contract. Thus, if a contract is  
integrated, parol evidence is admissible only to clarify  
ambiguous terms; it is “not admissible to vary or contradict  
the clear and unambiguous terms of the contract.”

\* \* \*

To determine whether a writing is an integration, a court must  
determine whether the parties adopted the writing “as the  
*final and complete* expression of their bargain.” Importantly,  
we have explained “that when parties have reduced to writing  
what appears to be a complete and certain agreement, it will  
be conclusively presumed, in the absence of fraud, that the  
writing contains the whole of the agreement between the  
parties.”

Tangren Family Trust, 2008 UT 20, ¶¶ 11-12, 182 P.3d at 330-31.



The District Court correctly ruled as a matter of law that the Borrowers could not resort to parol evidence or other inadmissible assertions to vary or add to the terms of the subject loan, because the subject loan documents were “valid, integrated, and unambiguous.” (R. 1445–46.) See Tangren, 2008 UT 20, at ¶ 18. The very purpose of the parol evidence rule is “to limit the ability of the finder of fact . . . to believe testimony contradicting integrated writings.” Corbin on Contracts § 572C (Supp. 1994).

The District Court correctly concluded that “the subject loan documents [were] valid, enforceable and represent[ed] the parties’ final written agreement(s) governing their rights and obligations”; that the Borrowers “materially breached the loan documents”; and that “the alleged oral agreements and representations” asserted by the Borrowers did “not relieve them of liability.” (R. 1445.)

Without parol evidence, the Borrowers had nothing on which to proceed. Their defaults are established as a matter of law. The District Court got it exactly right.

**B. The District Court properly concluded that Halverson breached her Commercial Guaranty.**

For the same reasons, the District Court correctly concluded that Halverson materially breached her contractual obligations to KeyBank under the Commercial Guaranty. Halverson’s Commercial Guaranty was “unlimited.” (R. 988.) Its duration was to remain in place until the full obligation owing by Systems West was paid in full. (R. 988.) Thus, at the time Systems West’s obligations to KeyBank went into default, Halverson’s obligations under her Guaranty likewise went into default. Additionally, Halverson failed to supply her Annual Financial Statements and Tax Returns, thereby

defaulting under her independent covenants as well. (R. 989, 1044, 1108.) Like Systems West, Halverson's only alleged defense was that KeyBank unjustifiably refused to extend and renew the maturity date of the Note. Again, the District Court's decision was a proper application of the parol evidence rule.

## **II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY ENTERED JUDGMENT AGAINST THE BORROWERS ON THE ENTIRETY OF THE CASE.**

The District Court properly disposed of the entirety of the case on this record. Contrary to the Borrowers' assertions, KeyBank specifically argued that the District Court should dismiss the Borrowers' counterclaims when it moved for summary judgment. (R. 926–29, 1384–90.) Dismissal of the Borrowers' counterclaims was, therefore, clearly within the “scope” of KeyBank's motion. See Timm v. Dewsnup, 851 P.2d 1178, 1181 (Utah 1993). Judge Faust agreed that the Borrowers' counterclaims should be dismissed, noting that “all of the defenses and counterclaims [were] premised on the argument that the Court should overlook the plain language of multiple, fully-integrated loan agreements in favor of contradictory oral agreements and representations.” (R. 1445.) This conclusion was correct as a matter of law.

The District Court correctly recognized that the Borrowers' counterclaims for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, and promissory or equitable estoppel, were each premised entirely on the alleged oral agreements and representations asserted by Halverson, and constituted nothing more than an attempt to persuade the Court “to re-

write the numerous documents before the Court to essentially extend the life of the loan in perpetuity based upon the testimony of Halverson.” (R. 1444–46.)

Even if the Court’s assessment was not correct, the Borrowers’ arguments fail on independent grounds calling for affirmance on this record. The Court can affirm on any ground supported by the record. “[I]t is well settled that an appellate court may affirm the judgment appealed from if it is sustainable on any legal ground or theory apparent on the record, even though such ground or theory differs from that stated by the trial court to be the basis of its ruling or action, and this is true even though such ground or theory is not urged or argued on appeal by appellee, was not raised in the lower court, and was not considered or passed on by the lower court.” Dipoma v. McPhie, 2001 UT 61, ¶ 18, 29 P.3d 1225, 1230. The District Court properly granted summary judgment on this record. The Borrowers’ appellate briefing presents no record-based reason to disturb that correct conclusion. Even if not barred by the parol evidence rule, the Borrowers’ claims fail on their merits.

**A. The District Court correctly dismissed the Borrowers’ claim for breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing.**

The Borrowers argue that their claims and defenses based on the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing should not have been dismissed. They argue that “KeyBank breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and denied the defendants of the ‘fruits of the contract’ by failing to renew the Note and unilaterally deciding to call the loan due.” (Appellants’ Br., p. 16.) This argument ignores the

Borrowers' numerous defaults that occurred before the maturity date, focusing instead entirely on the due date of the Note.

The District Court properly recognized, however, that while a covenant of good faith and fair dealing inheres in almost every contract, some general principles limit the scope of the covenant. (R. 1933.) See Oakwood Vill., LLC v. Alberstons, Inc., 2004 UT 101, ¶ 45, 104 P.3d 1226, 1240. "First, this covenant cannot be read to establish new, independent rights or duties to which the parties did not agree ex ante." Id. (citing Brehany v. Nordstrom, Inc., 812 P.2d 49, 55 (Utah 1991). "Second, this covenant cannot create rights and duties inconsistent with express contractual terms." Id. (citing Brehany, 812 P.2d at 55, and Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco, Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 505 (Utah 1980)). "Third, this covenant cannot compel a contractual party to exercise a contractual right to its own detriment for the purpose of benefitting another party to the contract." Id. (citing Olympus Hills Shopping Ctr. v. Smith's Food & Drug Ctrs., 889 P.2d 445, 457 n.13 (Utah 1994)). Finally, the Court must "not use this covenant to achieve an outcome in harmony with the court's sense of justice but inconsistent with the express terms of the applicable contract." Id. (citing Dalton v. Jerico Constr. Co., 642 P.2d 748, 750 (Utah 1982)).

The Borrowers' proffered construction of the obligation to act in good faith would violate each of these broader principles of contract interpretation. See Oakwood, 2004 UT 101, ¶ 45, 104 P.3d at 1240. By asserting that KeyBank agreed to continually renew the Note and extend the maturity date of the Note into perpetuity, the Borrowers attempt to establish new, independent rights or duties; create rights and duties inconsistent with

the express contractual terms; compel KeyBank to exercise a contractual right to its own detriment for the purpose of benefitting Systems West; and achieve an outcome inconsistent with the express terms of the loan documents. This is insupportable under Utah law. The implied covenant cannot supplant the binding terms of the agreements. The Borrowers' unfounded assertions that KeyBank violated the implied covenant by refusing to extend the terms of the subject Note indefinitely was not well founded and was properly rejected by the District Court.

**B. The District Court correctly dismissed the Borrowers' claims for negligent misrepresentation and breach of fiduciary duty.**

The Borrowers also argue that the parol evidence rule cannot preempt their claims for negligent misrepresentation or breach of fiduciary duty. Had these claims been based on something other than the same vague allegations about "KeyBank officials," the approach might be different. In this case, however, the evidence was insufficient to raise a genuine fact issue. Not only did the Borrowers fail to identify any actual "KeyBank official" who allegedly made any such statements, but they proffered no evidence from which a fact finder could properly return a decision in their favor. See Prince, Yeates & Geldzahler v. Young, 2004 UT 26, ¶¶ 13 -14, 94 P.3d 179 (vague and indefinite statements offered to support allegations of an oral contract are properly ignored in ruling on summary judgment).

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